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Pleasant L. Matthews began constructing his "mansion" on his 1,080-acre plantation in 
1846. Ten years later, on October 30, he brought his bride Margaret Williamson to 
the completely finished and furnished house. A respected planter and attorney— 
although he never practiced law—Matthews built this fine Tennessee Vernacular 
residence and fabricated the furniture and interior refinements largely with his own 
hands. Although he was an ardent Unionist who was incarcerated by the Confederates, 
Matthews' association with the masonic fraternity may have been the reason that the 
house survived the Civil War. Matthews died on October 12, 1898, and his wife followed 
him on March 15, 1919. The property has been owned throughout the years by the 
builder's descendents; R. D. Shelley, the present owner, is Matthews' great grandson. 
Used as a residence until 1967, the appearance of the house has been altered only 
slightly. Although a tornado destroyed a portion of the roof, the porch, and a few 
pieces of the original weatherboard siding, in April 1974, the house remains basically 
sound.

The two-story frame structure was designed according to the favorite antebellum plan: 
two laajge rooms on each floor, separated by a central hall, in the main section, and a 
story-and-a-half ell, containing the kitchen and dining room, attached to the south 
end of the east wall. All framing—sills, studs, plates, and rafters—are massive, 
hand-hewn, and joined together with mortise and tenon joints and trunnels. (The 
studs measure approximately 4" x 6" and the joists 5" x 10".) Poles were used as rafters 
in the ell and as collar braces in the main section. The gable roof was covered with 
wooden shakes which the owner replaced in 1929 with composition shingles; a temporary 
material now covers the storm-damage part of the roof. Galvanized roofing sheaths 
the gable roof of the ell, but the original wooden shingles are underneath this 
covering. The external chimney at the south end of the building, reputedly constructed 
of hand-made brick fired on the grounds by Cherokees, remains intact, but its mate 
on the north end was recently rebuilt. The central chimney in the ell is original. 
The stone foundation piers, like the hand-planned, yellow poplar clapboards, are also 
original.

The main (or west) facade has the grace and symmetry which are characteristic of this 
architectural style. Single windows—nine-over-six at the second-floor level and nine- 
over-nine at the first—flank the elaborate, two-story entrance. (This fenestration 
pattern is repeated throughout the building.) Only one of the original sashes has 
survived, and some of the nineteenth-century glass remains. An unusual feature of the 
house is the paneled and bracketed frieze which appears on the east and west elevations 
under the plain, boxed cornice; the second-floor windows and entrance extend into the 
frieze. The lower-story entrance has a single-leaf, paneled door, side panels, and 
head and side lights; the whole is framed with ornate molding. Except for the absence 
of a head light, the upper entrance duplicates the lower. All of the original shutters 
have been removed.

In the late nineteenth or early twentieth century the original, two-story, portico, 
with its four square columns, was replaced with a porch which resembled the earlier 
one except that it had a shed roof. The 1974 tornado severely damaged the porch, and 
it was removed. There are porches with shed roofs on each side of the ell. The
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sheltered entrance on the north side of the ell is similar to the main entrance. A 
concrete block furnace room was recently built adjacent to the north ell porch.

The interior of the house is completely original. The main section contains 18'x 18' 
rooms and a 12' x 18' central hall, and every room has a fireplace and, except for the 
kitchen, an ornate mantle. The ceilings and walls were built of random-width, heart 
pine boards, which were hand planned and joined with tongue and groove joints; the 
present floor covers the original board flooring. Hand-made moldings, chair rails, 
mantles and wainscotting; a staircase with winders; and hand-wrought hinges and 
hardware are features of this building. A dozen or more of the original pieces of 
furniture, including several beds, two desks, a chest or two, and a corner cabinet, 
remain and are in fairly good condition. Still another interesting feature is the 
hall lighting fixture; installed when the house was erected and originally designed 
for lighting with a candle, the owner wired it when the building was electrified.

Only two original outbuildings still stand. The barn, although considerably altered, 
contains all of its hand-hewn timbers. Northeast of the house is a single-story, 
frame wheat house which was used to dry grain before milling. The carriage house, 
smokehouse (said to be identical to the wheat house), and bee house have been 
demolished. A mounting stone, comprised of three stacked buhrstones, is found a few 
yards west of the main entrance.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Pleasant L. Matthews was born on August 17, 1825 near Athens, McMinn County, Tennessee. 
He began his career as a tanner, but after acquiring a large tract of land, he turned 
to farming and became an enterprising farmer and one of the most respected citizens of 
northern James (later Hamilton) County. The Matthews House was, for many years, the 
social center of Georgetown. During the Civil War he served as an advisor to the 
Union forces in the region; his brother George held the rank of lieutenant in the 
Confederate Army. Matthews held the post of justice of the peace for twenty-seven 
years.

Antebellum, frame, Tennessee Vernacular residences, especially those in nearly original 
condition, are uncommon in southeastern Tennessee, and the Matthews House ranks among 
the best examples of this architectural style in the state. The frieze is a design 
refinement which seldom appears on houses of this style, and a frieze decorated with 
panels and brackets is rare indeed. The structural stability, as well as the quality 
of the ornamental woodwork, inside and out, further attest the builder's skill as a 
designer and craftsman.

The existence of custom, hand-made furniture further enhances the significance of the 
property. The ornamentatibn found on the individualpieces matches or compliments the 
interior refinements of the house. Decorative and utilitarian, rather than elaborate 
or fine, best describe the furniture and furnishings. Design elements are, in most 
cases, appliqued onto the pieces, not carved or routed. The finish on each is more 
practical than polished.

An energetic and active organization based in Ooltewah, the James County Historical 
Society, is presently planning to restore the Matthews House. The group intends to 
set up its headquarters and establish a museum in the 130-year-old residence.
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